FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/16/2019 4:25 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

97665-1

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Court of Appeals No. 35649-III

ROBERT E. LARSON, TYLER W. GASSMAN and PAUL E. STATLER,

Plaintiffs/Petitioners,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Defendant/Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

David B. Owens, WSBA No. 53856 LOEVY & LOEVY 100 S. King Street #100-748 Seattle, WA 98104 Email: david@loevy.com

Toby J. Marshall, WSBA #32726 tmarshall@terrellmarshall.com 936 North 34th Street, Suite 300 TERRELL MARSHALL LAW GROUP PLLC Seattle, Washington 98103-8869

Telephone: (206) 816-6603 Facsimile: (206) 350-3528

I.	INTRODUCTION		
II.	IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS		
III.	CITATION TO THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION2		
IV.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW		
V.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE		
	A. Relevant Facts and Procedural History3		
	B. The Court of Appeals' Decision5		
VI.	ARGUMENT & GROUNDS FOR REVIEW7		
	A. Interpretation of the WCPA, an Issue of First Impression, Raises Issues of Substantial Public Importance		
	B. The Court of Appeals Contradicted This Court's Binding Precedent		
	The Court of Appeals Refused to Narrowly Construe A Remedial Exemption		
	2. The Court of Appeals' Decision Contradicts This Court's Precedent That Specific Language Controls Over General Statements of Intent		
	3. The Court of Appeals Contradicted Precedent By Effectively Adding Statutory Language15		
	C. This Court Should Clarify Whether the WCPA Is Ambiguous		
VII	CONCLUSION 20		

VIII. APPENDIX

1.	Court of Appeals Decision	A1
2.	The Wrongly Convicted Persons Act, RCW 4.100.	A19

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

STATE CASES

Am. Cont'l Ins. Co. v. Steen, 151 Wash. 2d 512 (2004)16
Anfinson v. FedEx Ground Package Sys., Inc., 174 Wn.2d 851 (2012)10
Donovan Allen v. State, #18-2-01330-08 (Cowlitz County)
Doris Green v. State, No. 16-2-00660-2 (Chelan County)
Duke v. Boyd, 133 Wn.2d 80, 942 P.2d 351 (1997)12, 13, 15
Drinkwitz v. Alliant Techsystems, Inc., 140 Wn.2d 291 (2000)11
ETCO, Inc. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 66 Wn. App. 302 (1992)12
Go2net, Inc. v. FreeYellow.com, Inc., 158 Wn.2d 247 (2006)
In re Det. of Williams, 147 Wn.2d 476 (2002)14
Int'l Ass'n of Fire Fighters, Local 46 v. Everett, 146 Wash.2d 29 (2002)10
Larson v. State, 194 Wn. App. 722 (2016)
Little Mountain Estates Tenants Ass'n v. Little Mountain Estates MHC LLC, 169 Wn.2d 265 (2010)13, 14
Meredith Town v. State, 16-2-00655-2 (Chelan County)
State v. Armendariz, 160 Wash.2d 106 (2007)20
State v. Beaver, 184 Wn. 2d 321 (2015)9
State v. Granath, 415 P.3d 1179 (Wash. 2018)13, 14
State v. Reis, 183 Wn.2d 197 (2015)
State v. T. I.SM. 193 Wn 2d 450 (2019)

Statler v. Spokane County, No. 2:15-CV-0332 (E.D. Wash.) (Rice, J.)4
Vashon Is. Comm. for Self–Gov't v. Wash. State Boundary Review Bd., 127 Wn.2d 759 (1995)20
Wash. State Human Rights Comm'n v. Cheney Sch. Dist. No. 30, 97 Wn.2d 118 (1982)15
Young v. Remy, 149 Wn. App. 1033 (2009)12, 13
FEDERAL CASES
Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963)17
STATE STATUTES
RCW 4.100.06014
RCW 4.100.080
RCW 8.04.08014
RCW 51.35.22514
FEDERAL STATUTES
42 U.S.C. § 1983
OTHER AUTHORITIES
2013 WA H.B. 134, Committee Report (April 1, 2013)7
H. 1341, 63rd Leg., April 11 Reg. Sess. (Wn. 2013)20
Nat'l Registry of Exonerations, https://tinyurl.com/y644l9k5 (last visited 9/16/2019)

I. INTRODUCTION

This case presents issues of tremendous importance and substantial public interest that should be addressed by this Court: determining, as a matter of first impression, how the "waiver and release" provision of Washington's Wrongly Convicted Person's Act (WCPA or Act), RCW 4.100.080(1), should be interpreted.

Enacted in 2013, the WCPA is a remedial statute that allows exonerated individuals to obtain limited relief for the injustice of being wrongfully stripped of their liberty. This Court has yet to weigh-in on how the WCPA should be interpreted. As a consequence, and due to the language and nature of the Act, substantial uncertainty exists for wrongfully convicted Washingtonians attempting to pick up the pieces of their lives while trying to navigate the uncertain and unclear legal landscape of potential remedies for their harm.

The Petitioners here—Robert Larson, Tyler Gassman, and Paul Statler—are three such individuals. Petitioners were wrongly convicted of crimes they did not commit, and *each* spent more than four years imprisoned. They then struggled to figure out what legal remedies were available to them and spent years fighting to obtain relief. Larson, Gassman, and Statler are not alone. Indeed, at present, at least three other WCPA suits are pending where the State has raised issues related to 4.100.080(1). This Court's intervention is necessary to clarify the legal landscape for the wrongfully convicted, who already have enough hurdles to overcome following release from prison.

In addition, this Court should accept review of this matter because the Court of Appeals contradicted this Court's precedent concerning statutory interpretation (and the separation of powers doctrine) by effectively adding language to the statute, and, ultimately, construing a remedial statute in a manner *harmful* to the wrongfully convicted.

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Robert Larson, Tyler Gassman, and Paul Statler, the claimants/plaintiffs below, ask this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals' decision terminating review.

III. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The published Court of Appeals decision was filed on August 15, 2019, and is attached as Appendix A to this Petition.

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether the WCPA is a remedial statute of which the waiver and release "exemptions" must be narrowly construed?
- **2.** Whether the specific, operational text of the WCPA should trump the statute's vague statement of general intent?
- 3. Whether the WCPA's waiver-and-release provisions apply retroactively to deprive wrongfully convicted individuals of statutory remedies in any and all circumstances where a prior recovery has been provided to a wrongfully convicted claimant?

- **4.** Whether the Court of Appeals erred by functionally editing the WCPA to include an "effectiveness" inquiry that is not actually a part of the statutory text?
- 5. Whether the waiver-and-release provisions of RCW4.100.080(1) are ambiguous?

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Relevant Facts and Procedural History

In 2008, a series of robberies—often called "drug rip" robberies—of individuals known or suspected to be involved in illegal drug dealing took place in Spokane. CP 10.¹ Eventually, as summarized in the Court of Appeals' prior decision, the investigation turned to Larson, Statler, and Gassman, who were prosecuted for two of the robberies. *Larson v. State*, 194 Wn. App. 722, 375 P.3d 1096 (2016); CP 14. All three were acquitted of one of the crimes, convicted of another, and sentenced to between 20-40-plus years in prison. *Id*.

In 2012, the Innocence Project Northwest (now, the Washington Innocence Project) and its cooperating counsel brought a Criminal Rule 7.8 motion for relief from the judgment, which was granted on the basis of significant new exculpatory information. *Id.* at 15-16. The State later

¹ CP refers to the Clerk's Papers on appeal; RP refers to the Record of Proceedings; and App. refers to the Appendix to this Petition.

dismissed all charges. *Id.* at 23. By then, Larson, Gassman, and Statler had each spent more than four years wrongfully imprisoned. *Id.* at 14-15.

Larson, Gassman, and Statler sought relief under Washington's new Wrongly Convicted Persons Act, which requires claimants affirmatively prove their innocence by clear and convincing evidence. The State opposed relief, forced Petitioners to go trial, and was ultimately successful in persuading the trial court to deny the claims. *Id.* at 8-9.

Having lost before the trial court under the WCPA, Larson,
Gassman, and Statler filed a civil-rights action pursuant to 42 U.S.C.

§ 1983 in the Eastern District of Washington. *Statler v. Spokane County*,
No. 2:15-CV-0332 (E.D. Wash.) (Rice, J.); *see also* CP 59 & n.1.

Meanwhile, on appeal of the WCPA claims, the Court of Appeals reversed the trial court, concluding the judge below had imposed an incorrect legal standard on Petitioners that was contrary to the remedial nature of the act. *Larson*, 194 Wn. App. at 725, 735-36. On remand, applying the correct legal standard, the trial court found Petitioners were innocent and entitled to judgment in their favor. CP 5. The trial court entered judgment and ordered the State to pay compensation to each Petitioner. *Id.* at 5, 22-25. On May 12, 2017, the trial court also ordered back child support for Mr. Larson, attorney's fees and costs, and sealed Petitioners' criminal records. *Id.* at 6, 24-25, & 28. The State did not appeal, and the judgment became final. CP161-64.

Around the same time, Petitioners also settled their independent § 1983 suit. *Id.* at 46. The State then argued RCW 4.100.080 precluded the

court from entering the judgment in Petitioners' favor on the basis that the § 1983 suit had settled and that Plaintiffs were bound by some sort of "election of remedies" concept. *Id.* at 45-48, 50. Petitioners' opposed the State's argument. *Id.* at 66-73. Petitioners' prevailed, and the trial court entered judgment in Petitioners' favor. CP 103-05.

On August 18, 2017, after the time for the State to appeal had expired, Petitioners filed a motion to direct the clerk to furnish the judgment to the office of risk management (which processes the judgment before the legislature pays the compensation). *Id.* at 106-08. The State never furnished Petitioners with the legal release, mandated by .080(1). Had the State furnished such a release, Petitioners would have signed it.

Instead, the State sought relief under CR 60. Despite the fact no irregularities happened, and no injustice had been done, the trial court vacated the final judgment declaring Larson, Statler, and Gassman innocent and ordering them financial compensation. *Id.* at 204-07; RP 32-35. Petitioners timely appealed. CP 212.

B. The Court of Appeals' Decision

The Court of Appeals affirmed the determination of the trial court but did so on a somewhat different basis. First, the Court of Appeals recognized that the WCPA permits the wrongfully convicted to simultaneously pursue claims related to a wrongful conviction under the WCPA and in other fora (*e.g.*, federal district court under 42. U.S.C. § 1983, or state trial court). App. A, at 8-9. Clarifying this aspect of the WCPA was necessary because the State had previously argued that

Petitioners were not permitted to pursue a WCPA claim and any other action simultaneously. *See* Pets. Reply Br., at 6.²

Second, the Court of Appeals rejected Petitioners' argument that the enumerated language of .080(1) operates only prospectively. At one point the Court of Appeals recognized that .080 includes a general statement of intent and that the legislature "effectuates that intent" by requiring a WCPA claimant: (1) waive other remedies against the State and other actors for actions related to the wrongful conviction, (2) execute a legal release before receiving payment; and (3) reimburse the State in whole or in part if the release is held invalid and the "clamant *later* recovers a tort award." App. A, at 3 (emphasis added).

Despite recognizing the manner in which the legislature "effectuates" its intent in the operative provisions of .080(1), the Court of Appeals nonetheless went on to *add* language to the statute that is not in its text. Specifically, the Court of Appeals added that any waiver must be "effective" in some sense and reasoned that a "claimant who has received a tort award or settlement will not be able to waive claims and execute a legal release." *Id.* at 10; *see also id.* at 14 (discussing an "effective waiver and legal release of claims"). The Court of Appeals cited no authority for this proposition. Echoing the same logic, the Court of Appeals further

2

² The State changed its position on appeal, conceding a claimant can pursue two (or perhaps more) causes simultaneously. However, the State has taken several different positions on this issue in other pending cases.

reasoned that by having "settled their federal claims, the plaintiffs no longer had the *ability* to give up the relevant claims: they had already given them up." *Id.* at 12 (emphasis added). The Court of Appeals imported a concept into the Act, a release "having legal substance," which it concluded "cannot be done by a claimant who has already obtained a tort award or settlement from state actors." *Id.* at 13 n.3.

Finally, the Court of Appeals rejected Petitioners' argument that, as this Court's precedent recognizes, exemptions from relief under remedial statutes be construed narrowly. *Id.* at 14. Adopting a broad interpretation of .080(1), which will prevent recovery by Petitioners and other wrongfully convicted individuals in Washington, the Court of Appeals concluded that interpreting .080(1) to preclude relief "is not fairly characterized as an exemption." *Id.*

VI. ARGUMENT AND GROUNDS FOR REVIEW

A. Interpretation of the WCPA, an Issue of First Impression, Raises Issues of Substantial Public Importance

There should be no dispute that the Washington legislature, and indeed the State's criminal justice system, treats as important the wrongful conviction and incarceration of the innocent. According to the National Registry of Exonerations, which tracks and documents exonerations, to date there have been 50 men and women exonerated in Washington State. *See* Nat'l Registry of Exonerations, https://tinyurl.com/y644l9k5 (last visited 9/16/2019). The WCPA was enacted in 2013 because Washington

had become an outlier in having no statute to address the needs of this vulnerable and wronged population. 2013 WA H.B. 134, Committee Report (April 1, 2013). The WCPA, then, addresses important and pressing issues concerning the wrongfully convicted; recognition not only that they have been wronged but also that they should be afforded redress.

Unfortunately, in the six years since the WCPA was enacted, there has been substantial uncertainty and lack of clarity about how litigation under the Act works. This case is illustrative: Petitioners faced legal obstacles in both state and federal court challenging their very *ability* to obtain relief, even after their WCPA claim had been (improperly) denied by the trial court. Petitioners here are not alone. Instead, citing the waiver-and-release provisions of .080(1), the State has sought dismissal of at least three other currently-pending WCPA claims where the claimant received some payment before pursuing a WCPA claim—even doing so despite the fact that for Merideth Town and Doris Green the prior payment preceded passage of the WCPA and was an amount less than Town and Green would be eligible for under the Act. *See Doris Green v. State*, No. 16-2-00660-2 (Chelan County); *Meredith Town v. State*, 16-2-00655-2 (Chelan County); *Donovan Allen v. State*, #18-2-01330-08 (Cowlitz County).

-

³ The *Green* and *Town* matters underscore how important the issues are here: the legislature created a remedy for the wrongfully convicted, and that remedy is greater than what they received in prior settlements before the WCPA was ever passed. Nonetheless, a potential upshot of the Court of Appeals' decision is that due to agreements reached before the Act ever existed, they cannot avail themselves of the WCPA whatsoever.

This Court should grant review to interpret the Act so that people wrongfully convicted in Washington can have clear guidance about how an important remedial statute works—including the right time and manner to file a WCPA claim, and whether a wrongfully convicted person's rights under the statute might be compromised by the timing of a filing. *Cf. State v. T.J.S.-M.*, 193 Wn.2d 450, 454 (2019) (finding timing issues in juvenile sentencing to be a substantial public interest this Court should review and noting the "need for future guidance" as a further reason for review). In so doing, as explained below, this Court should clarify that the wrongfully convicted can pursue remedies under the WCPA regardless of whether they have previously recovered so long as they are willing, at the time payment is sought, to sign the legal release required by .080(1).

B. The Court of Appeals Contradicted This Court's Binding Precedent

In at least three separate ways, the Court of Appeals' decision runs contrary to precedent from this Court.

-

⁴ This Court's decisions concerning whether there is a substantial public interest to review a decision that has become moot are illustrative here analogy here. The Court considers three things: (1) whether the questions are public in nature, including involving constitutional questions and statutory interpretation; (2) the desirability of an authoritative determination for future guidance, and (3) whether the situation is likely to recur. *See State v. Beaver*, 184 Wn. 2d 321, 330 (2015). Each one of these criterion are satisfied here: interpretation of the WCPA is public; there is a need for authoritative determination for not only public officials but also the wrongfully convicted; and the issue has already recurred.

1. The Court of Appeals Refused to Narrowly Construe a Remedial Exemption

The WCPA creates a narrow, prospective waiver of remedies by conditioning the payment of compensation on a release of future claims, actions, or proceedings. As the Court of Appeals recognized early in its decision but departed from at a later point, .080 sets forth three steps concerning obtaining payment after the substantive showing of innocence is made: (1) a waiver, (2) a legal release, and (3) reimbursement if the release is subsequently held invalid and there is another qualifying payment. App. A, at 3. Nothing in the operative text of the WCPA creates a process for evaluating the scope of a settlement, partial or complete, of a *prior* claim before seeking payment under a successful WCPA judgment.

It is undisputed that the WCPA is a remedial statute, and that this Court's precedents provide that "remedial statutes are liberally construed to suppress the evil and advance the remedy." *Go2net, Inc. v.*FreeYellow.com, Inc., 158 Wn.2d 247, 253 (2006). As a consequence, exemptions to obtaining redress under a remedial statute—like that found in RCW 4.100.080—should be narrowly construed. See Anfinson v. FedEx Ground Package Sys., Inc., 174 Wn.2d 851, 870 (2012) (en banc) (explaining that remedial legislation "is given a liberal construction" and that "exemptions from its coverage are narrowly construed and applied only to situations which are plainly and unmistakably consistent with the terms and spirit of the legislation" (citing Int'l Ass'n of Fire Fighters,

Local 46 v. Everett, 146 Wash.2d 29, 45 (2002), and quoting Drinkwitz v. Alliant Techsystems, Inc., 140 Wn.2d 291, 301, 996 P.2d 582 (2000)).

The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with these authorities. Here, there is no dispute that the Court's interpretation of the WCPA excluded Petitioners' from obtaining relief under the Act. Nor does the statute define or require a prerequisite about an "effective waiver," and particularly not the one imagined by the Court of Appeals, which finds no basis in the statutory text. In short, rather than interpreting the WCPA by its text, and rather than interpreting .080(1) narrowly as required by this Court's precedents, the Court of Appeals broadly interpreted an exemption from the ability to obtain relief under the Act, which was error.

2. The Court of Appeals' Decision Contradicts This Court's Precedent That Specific Language Controls Over General Statements of Intent

This matter centers on interpretation of the waiver-and-release language in RCW 4.100.080(1), which, in relevant part provides

As a requirement to making a request for relief under this chapter, the claimant waives any and all other remedies, causes of action, and other forms of relief or compensation against the state, any political subdivision of the state, and their officers, employees, agents, and volunteers related to the claimant's wrongful conviction and imprisonment. This waiver shall also include all state, common law, and federal claims for relief, including claims pursuant to 42 U.S.C. Sec. 1983.

. .

The claimant must execute a legal release prior to the payment of any compensation under this chapter.

If the <u>release is held invalid</u> for any reason <u>and</u> the claimant is awarded compensation under this chapter <u>and</u> receives a tort award related to his or her wrongful conviction and incarceration, the claimant must reimburse the state for the lesser of: (a) The amount of the compensation award, excluding the portion awarded pursuant to RCW 4.100.060(5)(c) through (e); or (b) The amount received by the claimant under the tort award.

RCW 4.100.080(1) (emphasis added).⁵

Before the operational language just quoted, .080(1) states: "It is the intent of the legislature that the remedies and compensation provided under this chapter shall be exclusive to all other remedies at law and in equity against the state or any political subdivision of the state." *Id.* In other words, the operational language *effectuates* the legislature's intent by requiring a (1) waiver when payment is sought, (2) a signed release, and (3) reimbursement if the release is later deemed invalid. *Id.*

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