FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/16/2019 4:16 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 97665-1

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ROBERT E. LARSON, TYLER W. GASSMAN, and PAUL E. STATLER,

Petitioners,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

#### STATE'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Rick Weber
WSBA #25244
Assistant Attorney General
Melanie Tratnik
WSBA #25576
Senior Counsel
Washington State Office of the
Attorney General
800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000
Seattle, WA 98104
OID #91093

###

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals properly applied well-established principles of statutory construction when it determined that the WCPA provides an exclusive remedy and that Petitioners were ineligible for compensation under the Act because they had previously received a federal tort recovery. The Court's published opinion provides clear and correct guidance to current and future WCPA claimants, and it does not conflict with any of this court's decisions. This Court should deny the petition for review.

# A. REVIEW IS NOT WARRANTED BECAUSE THE COURT OF APPEALS CORRECTLY FOLLOWED THE PRINCIPLES OF STATUTORY CONSTRUCTION

1. The Legislature's Statement of Intent Clearly States That the Remedy is Exclusive.

The Legislature explicitly stated that the purpose of the Act was to provide an avenue to compensation for persons wrongly convicted in the State of Washington who previously had no other remedy. RCW 4.100.010.

The first sentence of RCW 4.100.080(1) provides: "It is the intent of the legislature that the remedies and compensation provided under this chapter shall be exclusive to all other remedies at law and in equity against the state or any subdivision of the state." By its express terms, the WCPA provides an exclusive remedy for those who can show they were convicted, served prison time, and are actually innocent.

Relying on the plain language of RCW 4.100.080(1), the Court of Appeals properly concluded that Plaintiffs were ineligible for compensation under the Act. As the Court explained, the WCPA provides an exclusive remedy and conditions compensation on a wrongly convicted person's ability to provide a waiver and legal release of all other claims. *Larson et al v. State*, No. 35649-3-III, Slip Op. at 14 (Attached as Appendix 1).

This Court has held that "[p]lain language that is not ambiguous does not require construction." *State v. Evans*, 177 Wn.2d 186, 192,

298 P.3d 724 (2013); *State v. Delgado*, 148 Wn.2d 723, 727, 63 P.3d 792 (2003). "[I]t is settled that the plain meaning of a statute is determined by looking not only 'to the text of the statutory provision in question,' but also to 'the context of the statute in which that provision is found, related provisions, and the statutory scheme as a whole." *State v. Hurst*, 173 Wn.2d 597, 604, 269 P.3d 1023 (2012). The plain language of RCW 4.100.080(1) states that the remedies "shall be exclusive to all other remedies."

Petitioners' contention that the exclusive remedy provisions of the WCPA do not prohibit them from obtaining compensation from the county and then obtaining WCPA compensation from the State is directly contrary to the plain language of RCW 4.100.080(1). It is also contrary to the other provisions of the statute.

# 2. The Statutory Language Requires a Comprehensive Waiver and Release.

Consistent with the initial statement of intent, the statute provides procedures and mechanisms to ensure that the exclusive remedy provision is enforced. RCW 4.100.080(1) states that a claimant "waives any and all other remedies, causes of action, and other forms of relief or compensation against the state, any political subdivision of the state, and their officers, employees, agents, and volunteers related to the claimant's wrongful

conviction and imprisonment." This confirms that the legislature intended WCPA remedies to be exclusive.

Also consistent with the statutory scheme of allowing only one remedy, RCW 4.100.080(1) requires that a claimant execute a legal release memorializing the waiver of all other claims and providing for reimbursement to the State in case the required release is held invalid for any reason. RCW 4.100.080(1). This too confirms that the legislature intended WCPA remedies and compensation to be exclusive.

The Court of Appeals correctly held that the Legislature intended that the release and reimbursement provisions would "effectuate" the exclusive nature of the WCPA remedies and compensation. *Larson et al v. State*, No. 35649-3-III, Slip Op. at 10 (Attached as Appendix 1). The Court of Appeals also correctly held that the plain language of RCW 4.100.080(1), read as a whole, establishes that WCPA recovery is contingent on the WCPA being the claimant's exclusive remedy. Appendix 1 at 14.

# 3. Petitioners Cannot Recover Because They Cannot Provide Effective Release.

The Court of Appeals properly held that the required legal release is a condition of receiving payment. Appendix 1 at 10, 14. The Court further

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Without citing to the record, Petitioners claim that "[t]he State never furnished Petitioners with the legal release mandated by .080(1)." Pet. for Review at 5. The State disputes this incorrect statement.

held that since Petitioners accepted compensation from the county and released the county from liability, Petitioners could no longer provide a legal release that would satisfy this statutory condition. If the petitioners could not waive all other actions as required in RCW 4.100.080, the release would not be effective and the remedy would not be exclusive. For that reason, Petitioners are ineligible to receive WCPA compensation. Appendix 1 at 12.

Petitioners argue that a release of less than all of the entities and persons required under .080 is not meaningless. They state that the release can include waiver of other claims besides claims under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 and the WCPA. This argument misses the point. The plain language of .080 requires that the WCPA remedy be exclusive and requires waiver of all other claims. As the Court of Appeals pointed out, "It was the Washington Legislature's aim that the WCPA compensation, if obtained, be an exclusive remedy, and that is what its provisions ensure." Appendix 1 at 14.

# B. THE COURT OF APPEALS OPINION PROVIDES GUIDANCE TO FUTURE CLAIMANTS

Petitioners argue that review is warranted because this case raises an issue of substantial public interest. They urge this Court to accept review in order to provide guidance to people wrongly convicted in Washington. Pet. for Review at 8-9. But review is unnecessary. The Court of Appeals'

opinion provides clear and correct guidance on the exclusive remedy requirement to future WCPA claimants. To the extent that other questions remain about the application of the WCPA in different fact patterns, the best course of action is for those cases to work their way through the appellate courts. Granting review in this case will not provide clarity or guidance about other issues not raised by this appeal.

The issue decided by the Court of Appeals is very narrow. The Court correctly applied the rules of statutory construction to the clear language of RCW 4.100.080. Any confusion encountered by these claimants was a result of rejecting the plain language of .080 and engaging in a strained, result-oriented interpretation. The word "exclusive" is not ambiguous. The Court of Appeals recognized this and held that a wrongly convicted person may not recover from the State under the WCPA and recover from the State or its subdivisions in some other claim.

Petitioners also claim that guidance is needed because in the past the state has taken varying positions regarding whether or not a claimant can pursue a WCPA claim and a separate tort claim at the same time. Pet. for Review at 5. But the Court of Appeals decision provides appropriate guidance. The Court of Appeals held in this case that the law "allows for concurrent actions as long as the claimant does not both recover relief from the State or state actors *and* receive and retain compensation under the

WCPA." Appendix 1 at 9. The Court's opinion provides adequate guidance on the exclusivity of the WCPA remedy to future claimants. Review is not warranted.

- C. THE COURT OF APPEALS APPLIED AND FOLLOWEDTHE SUPREME COURT'S PRECEDENTS REGARDING STATUTORY CONSTRUCTION
  - 1. The Court of Appeals Followed this Court's Precedent in Giving Meaning to Statutory Terms It Did Not Add Any Terms.

Petitioners argue that the Court violated the principals of statutory construction by adding language to RCW 4.100.080 when it ruled that .080 requires an "effective" release. Rather than adding language to the statute as Petitioners argue, the Court of Appeals gave meaning to the waiver and release language of .080, consistent with the clear legislative intent. In so ruling, the Court of Appeals did not contradict any precedents of this court by adding language to the statute.

The Court of Appeals recognized that a release that does not include all individuals and entities required by the statute is ineffective. Such a "release' would not ensure an exclusive remedy as intended by the legislature. The Court pointed out "The Plaintiffs do not make the specious argument that 'execute a legal release' means no more than to sign a document entitled 'Release,' which can be done as easily after receiving an award or settlement payment as before receiving such an award or

settlement." Appendix 1 at 13, footnote 3. The Court's opinion made it clear that payment under the WCPA is conditioned on the claimant executing a release which waives all other causes of action. Review is not warranted.

# 2. The Court of Appeals Followed This Court's Direction Regarding Statements of Legislative Intent and Plain Meaning Analysis.

Petitioners also claim that the Court of Appeals allowed the declaration of intent to "trump" the specific operational language of the statute. That is incorrect. Here, the Court applied the operational language consistent with the legislature's statement of intent and determined that a so-called release that did not release all other claims (because they had already been paid) could not satisfy the statute.

Petitioners argue that the waiver operates only prospectively, stating that the Legislature only required release of future claims, and that the State and courts must ignore any prior claims, settlements, judgments, or releases. Petition for Review at 12. Pursuant to such an interpretation, claimants would be free to litigate claims against any allegedly responsible individuals or entities, obtain compensation, execute a release, and then obtain compensation from the State under the WCPA.

This strained interpretation ignores the Act's exclusive remedy provision. The Court properly rejected Petitioners' prospective waiver argument and held that this argument is inconsistent with the plain language

of the legislature's clear expression of legislative intent. Appendix 1 at 9-13.

In *G-P Gypsum Corp. v. Dep't. of Revenue*, 169 Wn.2d 304, 310, 237 P.3d 256 (2010), this Court soundly rejected the same argument that Petitioners make here, holding that "an enacted statement of legislative purpose is included in a plain reading of a statute." *Id* at 310. This court has also held that "[t]he court's fundamental objective is to ascertain and carry out the legislature's intent, and if the statute's meaning is plain on its face, then the court must give effect to the plain meaning as an expression of legislative intent." *Dep't of Ecology v. Campbell and Gwinn, L.L.C.*, 146 Wn.2d 1, 9, 43 P.3d 4 (2002); *State v. J.M.*, 144 Wn.2d 472, 480, 28 P.3d 720 (2001). The Court of Appeals ruling is not inconsistent with this court's precedents.

3. The Court of Appeals Correctly Rejected Petitioners' Argument That the Exclusive Remedy Provision is Actually a Remedial Exemption.

Petitioners also argue that the conditions of recovery established in the Act are actually exemptions from recovery and, because it is a remedial act, should be construed narrowly to allow them to obtain compensation. Pet. for Review at 10. The Court properly rejected this argument, holding that "RCW 4.100.080(1) is not fairly characterized as an exemption. It

creates conditions that apply to every individual requesting relief under the act." Appendix 1 at 14. Those conditions are consistent with the clearly expressed legislative intent.

"Remedial acts are liberally construed to suppress the evil and advance the remedy." *Larson et al v. State*, 194 Wn. App. 722, 725, 375 P.3d 1096 (2016). The *evil* to be suppressed here was the fact that before enactment of the WCPA the majority of persons wrongfully convicted in Washington had *no remedy*. The *remedy* to be advanced was to provide *an avenue* to compensation for those wrongly convicted persons who previously had no remedy. RCW 4.100.010.

As the Court correctly explained, "[T]he stated intent of the WCPA is not to add one more remedy to others that might be available. It is addressed to the "majority of those wrongly convicted in Washington state [who] have no remedy available under the law for the destruction of their personal lives resulting from errors in our criminal justice system," to "provide an avenue for those who have been wrongly convicted in Washington state." Appendix 1 at 14.

Petitioners were not without a remedy. The Court of Appeals recognized that allowing them to obtain WCPA compensation in addition to receiving \$2.25 million from Spokane County would not only violate the exclusive remedy provisions of the WCPA, but it would in no way advance

the remedial purposes of the WCPA. The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the trial court's vacation of judgment so that payment of WCPA compensation could not occur.

#### V. IV. CONCLUSION

The exclusive remedy provision of RCW 4.100.080(1) is clear and unambiguous. The Court of Appeals correctly applied the plain language of this statute to the facts of this case, consistent with the clearly stated legislative purpose and intent. Petitioners have already received \$2.25 million from Spokane County for their wrongful convictions. The Court of Appeals correctly held that Petitioners are no longer eligible for WCPA compensation. The Court of Appeals opinion provides clear guidance for current and future WCPA litigants. This court should deny review.

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this \_\_\_\_\_ day of October, 2019.

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

MELANIE TRATNIK, WSBA #25576

RICK WEBER, WSBA #16583

Assistant Attorneys General

### FILED AUGUST 15, 2019

In the Office of the Clerk of Court WA State Court of Appeals, Division III

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION THREE

ROBERT E. LARSON; TYLER W.	)	
GASSMAN; and, PAUL E. STATLER,	)	No. 35649-3-III
	)	
Appellants,	)	
	)	
<b>V.</b>	)	
	)	PUBLISHED OPINION
STATE OF WASHINGTON,	)	
	`)	
Respondent.	)	

SIDDOWAY, J. — Robert Larson, Tyler Gassman, and Paul Statler were wrongly convicted of crimes and spent roughly four years in prison before their convictions were vacated and the charges against them were dismissed. They later established their right to assert a claim under Washington's "Wrongfully Convicted Persons Act" (WCPA), chapter 4.100 RCW, which provides damages to a wrongly convicted individual based on years of incarceration, damage-based attorney fees, and certain costs. The three men also filed a federal lawsuit against Spokane County and two of its law enforcement officers under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 (the Section 1983 action). They reached a \$2.25 million settlement against the defendants in that lawsuit at around the same time they established their rights under the WCPA.

At issue is whether their judgment for money damages under the WCPA remained viable after the three men settled the Section 1983 action. Given the operative provisions of the WCPA and the legislative intent that its remedies and compensation be exclusive, we hold that their judgment for WCPA compensation no longer remained viable. The superior court's order vacating the judgment is affirmed.

#### FACTS AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

In 2008, Messrs. Larson, Gassman, and Statler (the plaintiffs) were arrested in connection with a Spokane robbery. At their trial in February 2009, they presented alibi evidence. A jury nonetheless found each guilty of first degree robbery, first degree assault, and drive-by shooting. Each was sentenced to more than 20 years of incarceration. They began serving their sentences in July 2009.

In 2012, the superior court granted their CrR 7.8 motion for relief from judgment, finding they had received ineffective assistance from trial counsel, who failed to investigate potentially exculpatory evidence. Their convictions were vacated and they were released from prison. Rather than retry them, the State dismissed the charges against them in May and July 2013.

In May 2013, the Washington Legislature enacted the WCPA. LAWS OF 2013, ch. 175. It became effective on July 28, 2013, and afforded individuals wrongly convicted before that date a three year period within which to file suit. *Id.* at § 9 (codified at RCW 4.100.090). It expressly addresses its relationship to other civil remedies that a wrongly

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